
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and helped 
reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

 

Vibrant and Sustainable 
City Scrutiny Panel 
19 March 2020 

 
Time 
 

6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Mak Singh (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Paul Appleby (Con) 
 

Labour Conservative  

Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Greg Brackenridge 
Cllr Alan Butt 
Cllr Jacqui Coogan 
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal 
Cllr Keith Inston 
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi 
Cllr Martin Waite 
 

Cllr Christopher Haynes 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Martin Stevens 
Tel/Email martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 555046 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 
 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 2 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1 Apologies  
 

2 Declarations of interest  
 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12) 
 [To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record] 

 

4 Matters arising  
 [To consider any matter arising from the minutes] 

 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
5 Section 106 Planning Obligations - Briefing Note (Pages 13 - 18) 
 [A briefing note on Section 106 planning obligations is attached].   

 

6 Depot Rationalisation  
 [The Head of Business Services will give a presentation on the evening of the 

meeting on Depot Rationalisation].   
 

7 Veterans Support (Pages 19 - 54) 
 [To consider a briefing note on how the Council supports veterans (marked To 

Follow), in addition to the WMCA report titled:-  
 
“Designing out Veterans Homelessness,” which is attached.   
 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
Minutes 

 

Vibrant and Sustainable 
City Scrutiny Panel 
Minutes - 30 January 2020 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Vibrant and Sustainable City Scrutiny Panel 
 
Cllr Mary Bateman 
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Greg Brackenridge 
Cllr Alan Butt 
Cllr Jacqui Coogan 
Cllr Christopher Haynes 
Cllr Keith Inston 
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi 
Cllr Mak Singh (Chair) 
 

 
Employees 
Martin Stevens (Scrutiny Officer) (Minutes) 

 

Ross Cook (Director of Environmental Services) 
Jenny Lewington (Service Manager – Housing Policy and Strategy) 
Anthony Walker (Homelessness Strategy and External Relationship Manager) 
Henry Gregory (Housing Customer Insight Manager) 
Mila Simpson (Service Lead Housing Strategy) 
 

 

 

 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Paul Appleby and Cllr Martin Waite.   
 
Cllr Peter Bilson sent his apologies in his capacity as Portfolio Holder for City Assets 
and Housing.   
 

2 Declarations of Interest 
Cllr Mak Singh declared an interest on item 5 – Allocations Policy Review, as a 
Trustee for a charity raising funds for homeless veterans.   
 
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi declared an interest on item 5 – Allocations Policy 
Review, as a Governance Member for YMCA Black Country Group.    
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2019 were approved as a correct 
record, subject to the reference to “NHS England – Local Area Team” being deleted 
next to Ross Cook’s name on the list of attendees.   
 

4 Matters arising 
There were no matters arising from the minutes.   
 

5 Allocations Policy Review 
The Chair remarked that the Housing Allocations Policy was being considered by the 
Panel as a Pre-Decision item, this allowed them to make recommendations to 
Cabinet before being received by Cabinet in February 2020.  
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy opened the presentation on 
the proposed Housing Allocations Policy.  The Council owned over 22,000 properties 
within the City, that were managed across five managing agents; Wolverhampton 
Homes and the City’s four tenant management organisations (TMOs).  Local 
authorities were legally required to have a policy for allocating housing.  The 
Council’s Allocation Policy was a choice based letting scheme which had been 
adopted in 2007.  The Council was undertaking its first full review in twelve years.  
They had begun the policy review to ensure it remained modern and fit for purpose.  
The key reasons were in part due to the increasing demand on stock, which was 
decreasing year on year.  Through the Right to Buy Policy about 300 properties were 
sold each year.  Whilst new houses were built by Wolverhampton Homes and WV 
Living, they could not replace the housing stock being sold at the same rate.  There 
had also been an increase in expenditure on emergency accommodation within the 
City.              
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy remarked that in January 2019 
a steering Group had been established led by Council Officers involving 
Wolverhampton Homes, the Tenant Management Organisations and Legal Services.  
Proposals were drawn up based on evidence and analysis.  During September and 
October 2019 there was internal and public consultation on the proposed changes.  
Following consultation a revised policy had been written which was now before the 
Members of the Panel for consideration. 
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy stated that the policy 
objectives had been updated.  She listed the objectives as follows: - 
 

1) Ensure people in the greatest housing need have the greatest opportunity to 
access suitable housing that best meets their needs. 

 
2) Make use of a range of housing options and tenures to prevent and relieve 

homelessness. 
 

3) Make best use of the Council’s and partner registered providers housing 
stock. 
 

4) Manage applicants’ expectations by being realistic about stock availability, to 
support them in making informed choices about their housing options, and the 
extent to which they are able to express reasonable preference. 
 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

5) Ensure that the Council’s legal duties and corporate responsibilities are met 
and that they contribute to delivering the Council’s priorities.   

 
All of the changes proposed in the new policy were designed to meet the five policy 
objectives.   
 
The Housing Customer Insight Manager remarked that there were 5 levels of need in 
the current policy.  Emergency was the highest level of need down to Band 4.  Band 
4 was for people with no recognised housing need, who had joined the register as 
they wished to move into social housing.  Band 4 currently accounted for 50% of the 
total people on the housing register.  One of the key proposals in the new policy was 
to no longer operate Band 4.  People that were adequately housed with no 
recognised housing need would be given alternative advice on their housing options.  
This could include supporting them into shared ownership, the private rented sector 
or affordable housing through providers in the City.   
 
The Housing Customer Insight Manager commented that ten percent of available 
properties were still allocated to people in Band 4 with no housing need.  It was 
thought that this was not the best use of Council housing stock in the City and that 
better use could be made of this stock, for example for the House Project.  The 
change would help to meet the new objectives of the proposed policy.  During the 
implementation of the new policy, all people currently in Band 4 would be given the 
opportunity to re-register to make sure that anyone with a housing need had the 
opportunity to declare so, as they may not have done so on their original application, 
or their circumstances may have changed which had led to them initially being 
placed in Band 4.  Of the 213 respondents to the online survey, 64% had agreed with 
the proposal. 
 
The Housing Customer Insight Manager commented that the proposed banding 
system would now include an Emergency Plus Band and Band 4 would be removed 
in its entirety.  The banding system would therefore be an Emergency Plus Band, 
Emergency Band, Band 1, Band 2 and Band 3.  The Emergency Plus Band would 
give the greatest priority for housing to applicants with a full homelessness duty who 
were also care leavers up to the age of 25, members of the armed forces, people 
requiring a substantially adapted property, or anyone who required immediate 
rehousing due to a significant threat to life, to ensure those with the highest level of 
need were given the most priority.   
 
The Service Lead for Housing Strategy remarked that the proposed new policy gave 
a priority to those who were approved to adopt or foster. 59% of respondents to the 
survey had supported this proposal.  The proposed new policy also increased the 
priority to care leavers and included an exemption from residency requirements 
,which would enable care leavers to return to the City after a period outside the City, 
for example on their return from University.  64% of respondents to the online survey 
had supported the proposal.  She stated that the policy aimed to increase the priority 
of overcrowded families living in one bedroom properties.  Currently over occupied 
families in one bedroom properties had no additional priority, when compared to 
families over occupied in a two bedroom property.  As such, this change added 
priority to adults sharing the only bedroom with children.   It was also recommended 
that households that were overcrowded would receive higher priority than families 
that were not overcrowded but have no access to a private garden.  The proposed 
new policy would prioritise access to ground floor flats for those applicants with 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

mobility restrictions.  The current policy prioritised ground floor flats for applicants 
who were over 55 years and applicants requiring single level accommodation.  The 
change would enable people under the age of 55 with a mobility issue to receive 
priority for a ground floor property. There was a longer-term intention to establish an 
Accessible Housing Register following a stock survey, this would further improve the 
service provided to individuals and families in need of an accessible or adapted 
property.   
 
The Homelessness Strategy and External Relationship Manager stated that the 
proposed new policy removed the priority attached to a quarter of all properties that 
become available to let to someone with a local connection to an area over those 
with the greatest housing need.  The system at the moment randomly selected 1 in 4 
properties City wide.  For those properties, additional preference was given to those 
who had a local connection to that property area.  There were currently 42 Local 
Connection Areas in the City and these were based on the old social housing 
estates.  Housing numbers in the local areas were disproportionally distributed, the 
largest had 1245 properties, whilst the smallest had 74 properties.   
 
The Homelessness Strategy and External Relationship Manager explained the 
rationale for removing the local connection aspect of the policy.  Living in the east of 
the City significantly increased an applicant’s chance of being allocated a property 
due to the higher number of local connection properties.  It allowed applicants with 
lesser housing need to be allocated a property ahead of others with a higher level of 
need.  The equality impact assessment had identified local connection as an 
inequality.  He gave some example case studies.  Removing the local connection 
element of the policy supported the objective to ‘ensure people in the greatest 
housing need have the greatest opportunity to access suitable housing that best 
meets their needs’. The results of the online survey on this issue, were 43% of 
respondents were in agreement of removing it and 43% were in disagreement.  Key 
stakeholders groups supported the recommendation, including the Care Leavers 
Forum, Domestic Violence Forum, Homelessness Partners and Armed Forces 
representatives.   
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy commented that the proposed 
new policy allowed for a maximum of two refusals of offers of housing in a 12 month 
period before suspending a housing application for six months.  This was a change 
from the current policy where applicants could refuse three offers of suitable 
accommodation in a 12 month period before their application was suspended for a 
period of 3 months.  The rationale behind the proposed change was that applicants 
were bidding on properties that they were not willing to accept offers of housing on.   
This caused a drain on resources and could increase the length of time a property 
remained empty, meaning higher void costs.  It was hoped that the change would 
encourage applicants to fully consider if they were willing to live in the property they 
were bidding on.  73% of survey respondents had supported the proposal.   
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy commented another proposed 
change to the policy was adding the ability to exclude from certain locations, or 
property types on the grounds of safety.  The new policy proposed also intended to 
increase the amount of housing debt an applicant could have before having their 
priority demoted.  The current policy set a limit of £60 debt, it was proposed to 
increase this to approximately £400 which was closer to a monthly average.    
 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy stated that if the new policy 
was agreed by Cabinet it was intended to have a phased roll-out beginning in April 
2020.  The remainder of the policy, that was dependant on the development of the IT 
system would be implemented from February 2021 or earlier if systems allowed.  It 
was anticipated the new build of the IT system would take 8-10 months.  
 
A Member of the Panel praised certain aspects of the proposed new policy.  She did 
however raise some concerns.  She was concerned that the debt arrears only 
reflected an average of four weeks rent.  She felt given the issues with Universal 
Credit the figure should reflect six weeks rent of a Council property.  She also 
believed the number of refusals of offers of housing should stay at 3 rather than be 
reduced to 2, before a person’s application was suspended.  She added that she did 
not agree with the application suspension being increased to six months, if 2 offers of 
housing were refused.  Her experience of working at the YMCA meant she knew that 
a lot of young people didn’t know what they were bidding on and they didn’t 
necessarily fully understand how the systems worked.  On the matter of the 
consultation, she asked if consultation was conducted for people in Bands 1,2 and 3.  
Whilst she realised people could go online, she asked if there had been any targeted 
consultation, as it was important to capture the views of people waiting to be housed.    
 
The Housing Customer Insight Manager responded that throughout the two months 
of the consultation, anyone bidding for a property would find the consultation on the 
home page of the Homes in the City website.  They had also wrote out directly to a 
sample of people on the housing register.  They had carried out a public day at the 
Civic Centre.  One thousand people had been written to on the housing register as 
part of the consultation.   
 
The Homelessness Strategy and External Relationship Manager on the matter of the 
refusals reducing from 3 to 2, commented that part of the work on the implementation 
of the policy would be working with organisations advising young people and 
vulnerable groups around the importance of bidding on properties.  It was important 
to move away from people being pressured to place bids on properties they did not 
wish to live in.   It was necessary to understand why people were making 
inappropriate bids.  Some Neighbouring authorities were now only allowing one 
refusal in a twelve-month period before someone was removed from the register.  
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy commented that managing 
expectations was a crucial aspect in making people realise the likelihood of obtaining 
certain types of property.   
 
The Housing Customer Insight Manager commented that the proposal to increase 
the rent arrears to four weeks had been discussed at length with Wolverhampton 
Homes.  When it was applied it wouldn’t be on a single day it would be based on a 
balanced case over a long period of time.  Some respondents had thought it was too 
high, but he did accept the Councillors point in relation to universal credit.    
 
There was a discussion about the proposed removal of local connection in the new 
policy.  A Panel Member commented that the stability of the population and 
community went back numbers of generations and he was concerned the removal 
would have an adverse impact on people within communities. Support networks were 
crucial to some people.  The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy 
commented that because it was a choice based letting system, they would not ask 
people to bid on a property that would remove them from their community.  Local 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

connection was administered on a random 1 in 4 basis with most of the properties 
being flats, coming up in the east of the City.  People with the highest housing need 
would be prioritised.  Removing the local connection part of the policy essentially 
stopped people jumping the bands, which was to the detriment of others in more 
housing need.  Its removal was therefore allowing the Council to meet the new 
objectives more effectively.   
 
A Member of the Panel commented that some of the groups which had been listed 
that supported the removal of Local connection, would obviously not be concerned, 
such as someone who had just left the armed forces.  It was also reasonable to say 
that younger people would be less worried about its removal, compared to an older 
person who had spent their whole life in the local community.  The same principle 
applied to someone who had just arrived in the City.  He commented that perhaps an 
applicant should be given the option of opting in or opting out of a local connection 
clause.   
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy responded that local 
connection could sometimes work against people bidding on a local property and that 
it was still a Choice Based Lettings scheme.  They had thought long and hard over 
the removal of local connection, addressing how it currently worked and how it could 
potentially be redesigned.  Its current way of working was very old fashioned with 42 
unevenly sized areas.  They had looked at the education areas and whether they 
could be mirrored.  However, when they completed the equality impact assessment, 
it was still regarded as an inequality because of the distribution of properties and the 
people who put local connection down.  It was not a requirement to put local 
connection on the application and so you were then disadvantaging those that didn’t 
mind or had a connection to several areas, but had not listed them, not fully realising 
how the system worked.  The properties that most frequently came available were 
flats and not the more sought-after bungalows and houses.  It was also important to 
add that the new build local lettings plan adopted last Summer did retain local 
connection and there was a priority to transfer tenants, allowing people to move 
within their local area.   
 
A Member of the Panel commented that the biggest area of contention in response to 
the consultation questions was on local connection, where 43% of people had 
opposed its removal from the new policy and 43% agreed.  The Service Manager for 
Housing Strategy and Policy commented that whilst the response was evenly split, 
they had also consulted stakeholders groups, Council leadership teams, forums and 
partner agency’s where the responses were all in favour of removing local 
connection.  The Member of the Panel thought it was important not to underestimate 
the importance of the views of the ordinary tenant, where clearly a large percentage 
valued the local connection aspect of the policy.  He felt to conduct proper scrutiny 
he needed more information on the impact of the removal of the local connection 
clause and the associated data.  He was not persuaded by the arguments for the 
removal of the local connection clause.   He wanted the Panel to receive more 
information on who had responded to the consultation, such as their geographical 
location and how the local connection element part of the policy currently worked 
such as the 42 areas.  In addition, the reasons why the removal of local connection 
had been opposed.  The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy 
responded that they did have some information on who had responded to the 
consultation and that was something they could look at again.  She could see where 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

local connection could work well if people were on the same bands, her concern was 
where it allowed someone in a lower band to take a higher priority.   
 
The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy commented that there was 
sometimes a misconception by the public that local connection would assist them.  It 
was a complicated process for people to understand.  The three equality impacts 
assessments conducted internally on different ways of operating local connection 
had concluded in it being assessed as an inequality.  They had worked hard with the 
Equalities Team on the matter to make sure all considerations were heard.  The 
steering group had conducted extensive analysis on the matter.   At the Scrutiny 
Panel meeting held in September last year, Members had been shown the list of the 
properties in each of the 42 local connection areas.  More information could be 
provided upon request.  Officers were satisfied when they conducted the analysis 
that the removal of local connection would not disadvantage some of the types of 
people Members had mentioned such as those looking for a bungalow or people with 
caring responsibilities.  The 42 borders were artificial as they were based on old 
social housing areas. 
 
A Panel Member accepted that the current local connection part of the policy was not 
working as effectively as it could due to the arbitrary 42 areas.  But he thought that it 
should be looked at sympathetically to certain individuals such as the elderly.  Some 
people did not want to move large distances because of their local support networks 
and if their children were at a local school.  He was concerned that the removal of 
local connection could cause a bottle neck, with people choosing not to move.  He 
recommended that further consideration be given to local connection in relation to 
specific groups.   
 
The Director for City Environment commented that he felt more explanation was 
required to the Panel about how specific groups could benefit from the new 
allocations policy.  He commented that the removal of the local connection part of the 
policy, in his view, was in reality not reflecting how Members of the Panel thought it 
would impact on residents.  It was clear that a better explanation on the feedback 
was required and more information on why people had objected and supported local 
connection being removed.  He also felt a few more case studies would be helpful to 
the Panel Members.   He suggested that more information could be provided over 
the coming days.  He suggested that authority could potentially be delegated to the 
Chair of the Panel to have discussions with the Cabinet Member about the concerns 
in the changes to local connection.  The removal of the local connection part of the 
policy was not intended to be implemented until after the rebuild of the IT system.  
This allowed some time to fine tune the implementation, to assess the impact and 
give better explanation.  Whilst he saw it as a positive change it was clear more 
information needed to be provided to the Panel, so Members had a full 
understanding.   
 
The Director for City Environment, after further discussions with Members, suggested 
that the Panel could recommend to Cabinet that before the local connection part of 
the policy was changed, that it could come back to the Panel around April or May 
with more information.   This would allow the Panel to recommend to Cabinet that the 
policy be adopted subject to the local connection clause change being reviewed 
again by the Panel.  The Panel at that future meeting could make a further 
recommendation to the Cabinet on this aspect of the policy, which was not due to be 
implemented for some months due to the changes required in the IT system.  

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

 
The Chair commented that he thought Cabinet needed to further explore the 
implications of removing local connection from the policy.  He suggested that the 
recommendations to Cabinet should include that the Panel had concerns over the 
removal of local connection from the policy, that more information should be provided 
to Panel Members including the feedback from the consultation, that Cabinet should 
do further analysis on local connection and to assist with this process that the Panel 
should consider the matter again in the Spring when it could potentially make a 
further recommendation to Cabinet.   
 
A Panel Member commented that ground floor flats should not only be allocated to 
people with mobility issues but also sensory.  The Service Manager for Housing 
Strategy and Policy responded that this was included in the new proposed policy.  
The policy also contained additional support for people with hidden and other forms 
of disability.   
 
A Member of the Panel asked if the proposed amendments to the policy relating to 
carers would apply to existing carers or just new ones.  It was confirmed by Officers 
that it would apply to all carers.   
 
Members of the Panel spoke in strong support of removing the requirement for 
updated medical evidence to be provided every six months.   
 
A Panel Member asked about the type of appeal process that would be in place 
under the new policy.  Officers responded that all information was verified at the point 
of allocation, to ensure that the property would still meet their needs.  In addition, 
there was a right to appeal a decision, whether it be on banding, eligibility or 
exclusion.  There was also a separate appeal process if it was in relation to a 
homelessness case.  Additional powers had also been given to multi-agency panels 
to review a case and increase priority if it was deemed appropriate by the Panel.   
 
A Panel Member asked about the status of the Rent With Confidence Scheme, 
particularly as Band 4 was intended to be removed under the new policy.  The 
website currently said it was not available and would be up and running again in the 
New Year.  The Service Manager for Housing Strategy and Policy responded that the 
website was currently paused as the website was setup to advertise properties and 
that had not been particularly effective.  From April they were moving to Rent With 
Confidence Phase 2, they had been successful in obtaining funding before 
Christmas.  They would be appointing a post to lead the project.     
 
 
  Resolved: The Vibrant and Sustainable City Scrutiny Panel:- 

 

1. Recommends to Cabinet that the new Allocations Policy be amended to allow 
applicants to bid and accept an offer of housing if in arrears of up to the 
average of six weeks rent of a Council property, rather than the proposed four 
weeks (£400). 

 
2. Wishes to express to Cabinet that it has concerns over the removal of the 

Local Connection clause in the proposed new Allocations Policy.  It asks for 
further analysis on the implications of its removal, so careful consideration can 
be given as to the correct course of action.   

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

 
3. Requests further information to be received by the Panel on the potential 

impact of the removal of the Local Connection clause of the Allocations 
Policy.  This information should include the feedback and analysis from the 
formal consultation process.  The Panel intends to consider this particular 
aspect of the policy again in the Spring.   

 
4. Subject to recommendations 1, 2 and 3 above, endorses for approval by 

Cabinet the implementation, from 1 April 2020, the aspects of the revised 
Allocation Policy that are not dependant on the development of the IT system 
as detailed in paragraph 6.4 of the report.  The remainder of the policy, that is 
dependant on the development of the IT system to be implemented from 
February 2021.   

 
5. Endorses that Cabinet approve delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for 

City Assets and Housing, in consultation with the Director for City Assets and 
Housing to approve any minor changes to the final policy, where any structural 
constraints to the IT system are identified which are not able to support 
implementation of minor aspects of the recommended changes. 

 
6. Endorses that Cabinet approve delegated authority to the Cabinet Member for 

City Assets and Housing, in consultation with the Director for City Assets and 
Housing, to make minor editorial changes to the Allocations Policy when 
necessary. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 7:30pm.   
 

6 Work Programme 
 
Resolved: That the Work Programme be approved.   
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

S106 Planning Obligations     Feb 2020 
 
Stephen Alexander (Head of City Planning)  
 
 
 
 
Purpose  

To provide a summary of how we collect S106 contributions from developers and allocate 

the money to be spent on capital projects, as well as how Councillors are involved in the 

decision-making process. 

 

Overview 

S106 obligations mostly relate to the payment of contributions for open space 

enhancement and the provision of affordable housing as part of a planning application for a 

major residential development. 

 

In the financial year (2017/18) S106 contributions received amounted to £1.2M. For 

example, this included £109,000 from the developer of new housing on the Warstones Inn 

site, to be spent on Windsor Avenue Playing Fields and £100,000 for the Danesmore 

School site, to be spent on Ashmore Park.  

 

Background and context  

The following paragraphs explain the legal and policy constraints, as well as the process by 

which Councillors are involved in the decision-making process. 

 

Regulations 

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL Regs) require obligations 

attached to a planning permission to meet three key tests:  

 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 Directly related to the development;  

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

This means that S106 obligations can only be required when justified by planning policy, on 

a case by case basis.  For example, a public open space contribution could only be 

required where a housing development would be for more than 10 dwellings, where it can 

be demonstrated that there is a need for improved open space in the area and where the 

sum required would be proportionate to the scale of development proposed.      

 

    

Page 13

Agenda Item No: 5



 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

To meet the three key tests the S106 obligation needs to specify as precisely as possible 

which project S106 contributions are to be spent on.  For example, the Danesmore School 

contribution must be spent on “the enhancement, maintenance and management of 

Ashmore Park public open space”. 

 

Financial Viability 

Local planning authorities are required by national planning policy to ensure that S106 

obligations must not threaten the financial viability of developments.  Where it can be 

demonstrated that the full S106 obligations would threaten viability, the obligations must be 

reduced to a level which would not undermine viability. Given that financial viability can 

vary over time a reduction on viability is usually time limited.  

 

Planning Applications 

When a planning application is received there is a public consultation exercise.  Councillors 

are welcome to comment on any planning application in the city. Councillors can receive 

notifications on all applications in their ward (or any wards they are interested in) by e-mail 

via Planning Online. 

 

By the time a planning application is presented to Planning Committee, the need for a S106 

agreement will have been considered and included in the committee report with a 

recommendation for a decision by members of the Planning Committee.   

  

Public Open Space Contributions 

Many S106 obligations relate to public open space.  The Open Space Strategy and Action 

Plan (OSSAP) sets out priorities for spending on public open space.  Every two years the 

OSSAP is reviewed and following consultation with all Councillors and Neighbourhood Plan 

groups is subject to Cabinet approval.  The OSSAP is used as a guide in deciding whether 

an open space contribution is required and what such a contribution would be spent on.  

The OSSAP was reviewed in Spring 2018 and approved by Cabinet in July 2018. 

   

Collecting S106 Contributions 

A S106 obligation will specify a trigger point for making any contributions which are 

required.  For example, it may specify that an open space contribution must be paid before 

more than 50% of the houses are occupied.    It is the responsibility of the developer to pay 

S106 contributions, as required by the S106 obligation.   

 

Spending S106 Contributions 

Once the money has been received by the Council, the spending of S106 contributions is 

enacted by the spending services.  For example, Environmental Services spends public 

open space contributions (see attached tables for further information about these). 

Contributions can only be spent for the purpose specified in the S106 obligation.  

 

On receipt, the spending service identifies the detail of how the contribution will be spent 

and a timescale for delivery.  This will take account of the requirements of the S106 (and in 

Page 14



 

Sensitivity: PROTECT 

the case of open space, on the priorities in the OSSAP).  Before the contribution can be 

spent, approval is required from Cabinet (Resources) Panel.  Once approved, the 

contribution is included in the Capital Programme ready to spend.  

 

Process followed by the spending service: 

 Public consultation including Ward Councillors; 

 Design work; 

 Tender the work and appoint contractor; 

 Secure other funds (e.g. match funding). 

For example, public consultation was carried out before the enhancement of the children’s 

playground in Castlecroft Avenue.  The enhancement was paid for using the contribution 

that was received by the developer of the adjacent doctors’ surgery.  Environmental 

Services worked with the Finchfield and Castlecroft Residents Group, to survey the views 

of existing users and the local school.  Letters were sent to neighbouring residents, at the 

outset and again prior to installation works.  Ward Councillors were involved and updated at 

key points throughout the process. 

 

Summary 

 S106 obligations must comply with the CIL Regs. 

 S106 obligations must take account of financial viability. 

 Spending on public open space is guided by the OSSAP. 

 Spending must be in accordance with the S106 agreement. 

 

There are opportunities throughout for Councillor involvement. Specifically:  

 When a planning application is received; 

 When the OSSAP is reviewed;  

 Before the contribution is spent. 

 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Section 106 funded public open space enhancement schemes -

currently being implemented 

 

Improvement Scheme 
  

Funds available Development which the S106 
contribution came from.  
 

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Windsor 
Avenue. 
 

£108,815.48 Former Warstones Inn. 
  

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Penk Rise. 
 

£62,560.94 
 
£37,273.98 

Former ADAS, Wergs Rd. 
 
Former Tettenhall Ambulance 
Station, Regis Road. 
 

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Fowlers 
Park. 
 

£194,150.00 Showell Park 
 

Development of 
recreational parkland with 
play facilities on Ward 
Street central open 
space. 
 

£819,883.64 Ward Street. 
 

Match funding in a bid to 
support ecological works 
at Peascroft Wood, in 
partnership with the 
Wildlife Trust. 
 

£3,159.29 Land adjacent to Bulger Road, 
Bilston 
 
 

Match funding in an 
ERDF bid to support 
ecological and access 
improvements at Ward 
Street railway cutting, 
Fowlers Park and 
Pendeford Park. 

£37,788.63 
 
£952,114.00 
 

Showell Park 
 
Housing development at Ward 
Street 
 

         Total= c.£2.2M 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



Section 106 funded public open space enhancement schemes - 

currently being prepared for financial year 2020 / 2021 

 

Improvement scheme  Funds available Location of housing 

development which the S106 

contribution came from. 

Design work being 

undertaken on pathway 

and recreational 

improvements at Heath 

Town Park.  

60,000.00 Corner of Tudor Rd and Powell 
St, Heath Town.  
 

Play area improvements 
at Kingsclere Walk, Merry 
Hill. 
 

55,000.00 Reedham Gardens, Penn. 
 

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Bushbury 
Recreation Ground. 

80,000.00 
 
 
 
29,901.00 

Former Tapworks site, Bushbury 
Lane. 
 
 
Purcell Rd, Bushbury. 
  

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Northwood 
Park. 
 

115,820.16 Former King Charles Pub, 
Bushbury. 
 

Complete refurbishment 
of play area at Merridale 
Street. 
 

80,000.00 Former Tower & Fort Works, 
Penn Fields. 
 

       Total = c.£421 

Page 18



Designing  
Out Veterans’  

Homelessness
A practical report highlighting the  
homelessness and housing needs  

of UK armed forces veterans. 
2020

Page 19

Agenda Item No: 7



Page 20



Contents

Foreword by Andy Street, 4  
Mayor of the West Midlands

Foreword by Jean Templeton, 5  
Chair of the West Midlands  
Homelessness Taskforce

Foreword by Ed Tytherleigh, 6  
Chief Executive of Stoll and Co-chair  
of the Cobseo Housing Cluster

Introduction 7

Context 9

Existing Research 16

Designing Out Homelessness 17

Case Studies 19

Sources of Support 23

Conclusion 24

Appendix A: Research Summaries 26

Appendix B: Jargon Buster 33

Acknowledgements 34

3

Page 21



There is a proud military heritage in the 
West Midlands. With an estimated 76,000 
armed forces veterans currently living in the 
West Midlands, it is vital that we continue 
to build understanding of the sacrifices that 
veterans make whilst serving our country 
and region.

The transition from military to civilian life 
can be daunting for many people who have 
served in the Armed Forces. During this 
period, individuals can spiral into poor health, 
unemployment, and all of the problems 
associated with that. We know that some 
veterans become homeless as a result, and  
we want to stop that from happening. 

When I was elected as Mayor in May 2017, 
one of my first actions was to set up the 
Homelessness Taskforce. The purpose of the 
Taskforce has been to ensure that we are 
drawing on our collective resources to design 
out homelessness, in all its forms. This means 
thinking about the risks faced by young 
people, domestic violence victims, people 
who have fallen behind on rent payments, 
veterans and any life circumstances that  
can lead to homelessness.

We have already taken steps to become a 
region which supports its veterans. In 2018, 
the West Midlands Combined Authority 
signed the Armed Forces Covenant, pledging 
to acknowledge and understand that those 
who serve or who have served in the Armed 
Forces, and their families, should be treated 
with fairness and respect in the places they 
served with their lives. 

There is a huge amount of good work being 
done across sectors to tackle veterans’ 
homelessness, but there is much more that 
can be done. This report highlights the 
housing and homelessness needs of veterans, 
and the collaboration required across services 
in the region to ensure that pressures related 
to transitioning from the services such  
as: loss of purpose, insecure housing and 
adjustment to civilian life do not build into  
an individual crisis. 

Working together, we have the opportunity 
to prevent and design out veterans’ 
homelessness and design in measures that 
will allow us to identify and support veterans 
who are, or are at risk of becoming homeless.

Foreword by Andy Street,  
Mayor of the West Midlands

4

Page 22



Homelessness is the ultimate exclusion. 
Without a safe, secure and affordable home 
no one can achieve their full potential.

There are both systemic and personal issues 
that contribute to homelessness. As a sector 
we have tended to focus on the personal 
because we rarely have the opportunity to 
tackle and improve the systemic issues. This 
perpetuates a perspective that people are the 
problem; troubled individuals and families. Yet 
a major factor is troubled systems, which are 
much harder to tackle and change.

The purpose of the West Midlands 
Homelessness Taskforce has been to work  
in a space where regional collaboration  
and collective intent can help access 
resource, promote better coordination and 
practice, and support local partners. Our 
collaboration across the region, across 
sectors and disciplines, offers the opportunity 
to tackle the systemic issues which contribute 
to homelessness and replace with approaches 
and processes which prevent and design  
out homelessness.

Together the homelessness sector, service 
charities and the Armed Forces community 
can make a significant difference. Prevention 
by design is a perpetual, intentional process 
influencing mainstream systems. Access to 
good and trusted support at the right time 
can act as an important protective factor 
and the more we are able to keep people in 
our systems, the less likely they are to find 
themselves homeless. 

In this report and across the region we are 
pleased to celebrate the many services 
working in the West Midlands to support 
veterans. I welcome this report in highlighting 
where the system is not meeting needs  
and in starting that process of identifying  
how we can collaboratively tackle those 
systemic issues.

Foreword by Jean Templeton,  
Chair of the West Midlands  
Homelessness Taskforce

5

Page 23



I am delighted to endorse and support this 
report on how we can design out veterans’ 
homelessness in the West Midlands. 

The Cobseo Housing Cluster represents 
a group of over 30 charities and statutory 
agencies, that are collaborating to try to 
end veterans’ homelessness and we are very 
proud to work alongside the West Midlands 
Combined Authority in our ambition to  
do this.

We know that in the UK there are around 
300 to 400 veterans who experience rough 
sleeping every year and a wider group of 
around 3,000 to 4,000 veterans who are 
homeless with all the negative impacts this 
can have on all the other areas of a person’s 
life. But it doesn’t have to be like this for 
veterans. Indeed, you are statistically less 
likely to be homeless if you have served in 
Her Majesty’s Armed Forces; and you are 
also relatively better provided for as there are 
over 10,200 units of accommodation in this 
country ringfenced specifically for veterans. 
Designing out veterans’ homelessness is 
within our grasp, which is why the Housing 
Cluster launched a call to action on veterans’ 
homelessness in the House of Lords in March 
2018, and why we subsequently launched 
the No Homeless Veterans campaign in 
September 2019. 

As the West Midlands Homelessness 
Taskforce understands, you can only 
end veterans’ homelessness if we work 
collaboratively. The Housing Cluster has  
three key asks to achieve this goal:

1. To ensure that the Ministry of Defence 
works with partners to be more effective at 
identifying and supporting the minority of 
service leavers at risk of homelessness, so 
everyone leaving the military has a pathway to 
a suitable home. We owe our servicemen and 
women that much.

2. Revenue funding to fund the existing 
support services for homeless veterans in 
the UK. Fundraising pots are shrinking and 
so will our support to veterans unless the 
Government steps in.

3. To ensure that frontline staff in ‘civvy 
street’, in local authorities, homeless 
charities and advice services, have the 
ability to identify veterans and channel them 
through to the services that will help them 
access appropriate accommodation. The 
services are out there for veterans to access 
accommodation if the right intervention can 
be made every time.

We are delighted to be part of the 
collaboration working with the West Midlands 
Homelessness Taskforce to ensure that we 
can achieve our joint ambition to ensure 
that veterans who are homeless, or at risk 
of homelessness receive the right support 
at the right time. We stand ready to work 
collaboratively to implement the excellent 
recommendations in this report.

Foreword by Ed Tytherleigh,  
Chief Executive of  
Stoll and Co-chair of the 
Cobseo Housing Cluster

6

Page 24



Homelessness is harmful to individuals, 
families, communities and society and 
its causes are complex. It can happen to 
anyone. However, people are at increased 
risk of homelessness when certain factors 
are lost; including good health, good work, 
supportive relationships and safe, affordable 
accommodation. However, homelessness 
does not just reflect an individual’s choices 
and experience, it reflects systemic gaps in 
how society protects its citizens; including in 
local leadership, policy choices, local assets 
and operational decisions.

For military veterans, the causes of 
homelessness are often no different to those 
of the general population. The top reasons 
for homeless applications to local authorities 
consistently include: 

Importantly, studies suggest that, statistically, 
veterans are at no more risk of homelessness 
than the general population.1 

This said, there are circumstances specific to 
veterans that may increase the likelihood of 
experiencing housing issues. For example:

•  Poorly managed or unexpected early 
transition out of the Armed Forces: In 2019, 
75% of service personnel lived in service 
accommodation during the working week. 
On leaving, these personnel need to find 
somewhere to live (some of these will be 
serving ‘married unaccompanied’). The 
Single Persons Accommodation Centre for 
the Ex Services (SPACES), which supports 
an average of one thousand single veterans 
each year, notes that 84% of the veterans 
they work with state that their homelessness 
was a consequence of their discharge from 
the Armed Forces.2 

•  Unrealistic expectations of housing 
options outside of the Armed Forces: The 
Transition Mapping Study 2013 showed a 
low level of awareness of the requirements 
relating to buying or renting privately in the 
UK amongst service leavers.2

•  Emergence of, or return to, pre-existing 
vulnerabilities, such as returning to a 
chaotic lifestyle. This in turn may reignite 
vulnerabilities that may have existed prior  
to joining the Armed Forces.2

•  The loss of the structure and purpose that 
service life provides: Values and standards 
are an important part of service life. Some 
service leavers can find adjustment to a less 
disciplined life a challenge.

Introduction
7

being asked to leave  
the family home,  
or the home of  
friends and family;

 loss of a tenancy; and 

fleeing domestic abuse.

Page 25



In 2013, Forces in Mind Trust (FiMT) estimated 
that the annual cost of failing to address 
housing related issues arising from poor 
transition was in the region of £25 million. 
There is both a moral and financial imperative 
to act. 

The Government’s Veterans’ Strategy 
recognises that for many veterans, leaving 
the Armed Forces will be the first time they 
find a home for themselves. Despite this, the 
strategy notes that they are as likely as the 
general population to own their own home 
and there is no evidence to suggest they are 
over-represented in the homeless population.3

It is suggested that living in military 
accommodation does not present some 
of the same challenges as living in civilian 
housing, but can therefore make transition 
problematic. Accommodation charges for 
single accommodation and for married 
quarters are deducted from a servicepersons’ 
salary at source. Getting into arrears with 
housing charges is therefore not possible. 
Charges for military accommodation are 
also significantly cheaper than commercially 
available housing. 

Furthermore, Council Tax is not raised against 
service personnel in the same way as their 
civilian counterparts. A Charge in Lieu of 
Council Tax (CILOCT) is debited from an 
individual’s pay at source. Again, this is not 
at the same rate as it would be if arranged 
directly with a local authority and getting  
into arrears is not possible. 

Consequently, service personnel have less 
need to budget for their accommodation 
charges. It is understandable that this may 
become an obstacle to some as there has 
been no learning around budgeting for 
priority bills. 

Whilst some housing for married personnel 
has previously been described as poor 
quality4, it is generally of a high standard. 
Repairs are carried out at public expense; and 
an individual need not worry about the cost 
of maintenance, or difficulty in getting repairs 
carried out by a landlord. One issue raised in 
a report by the Soldiers’, Sailors’ and Airmen’s 
Families Association (SSAFA) suggested 
many veterans do not have funds to replace 
household items6, another example of being 
ill-prepared for the transition into civilian life.

8

‘Veterans are as likely as the 
general population to own 
their home and there is no 
evidence to suggest they 
are over-represented in the 
homeless population.’

Page 26



The West Midlands  
Combined Authority

The West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) received a grant from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) to carry out a piece of work with local 
authorities in the region to prevent and relieve 
homelessness amongst veterans. The purpose 
of the grant is to work with local authorities in 
taking forward the following types of activity:

•  Develop or otherwise improve plans for how 
local authorities will work with Ministry of 
Defence services to support, prevent and 
relieve veterans who are, or at risk  
of homelessness.

•  Ensure that housing options teams and 
homelessness services in local areas are 
referring veterans to the Veterans’ Gateway.

•  Produce or otherwise improve procedural 
guidance on how to support homeless 
veterans as required by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act.

•  Identify an officer who will oversee this 
work and lead on engagement with Ministry 
of Defence services.

The WMCA has split this piece of work into 
three main parts. These are:

•  Scoping – working with both constituent 
and non-constituent local authority 
members to establish the scale of the need 
and what provision is already in place.

•  Forming better pathways and sharing best 
practice which will include promotion of the 
Veterans’ Gateway.

•  Working with outreach services to support 
veterans who are street homeless.

This report introduces a framework for 
designing out homelessness, identifies the 
need, reflects on research done to date, and 
highlights opportunities for best practice and 
collaborative working throughout the region. 

This report will be launched at the Designing 
out Veterans’ Homelessness event on  
26th February 2020, which will be an 
opportunity to hear more about this work, 
build upon these findings and progress the 
collaborative approach.

9

Context

SOLIHULL
COVENTRY

BIRMINGHAM

SANDWELL

DUDLEY

WALSALLWOLVERHAMPTON

Page 27



Perceptions of Veterans’ 
Homelessness

Perceptions of how significant a problem 
homelessness is amongst the veteran 
population (relative to the wider population) 
vary. Some of these accurately reflect 
available evidence, others suggest there  
is a gap in understanding. 

There is a widespread perception of the 
difficulty in adjusting to life after leaving 
the armed forces. In a YouGov survey, 55% 
of those questioned said that they thought 
ex-forces would find it difficult to adjust to 
normal life, compared to 11% who said they 
thought it would be easy. Younger people and 
women are more likely to think it is difficult. 

A majority of participants also associated 
veterans with homelessness. In support of  
this perception a small cohort of serving 
soldiers, reservists and charity volunteers 
were questioned about veterans and 
homelessness: one thought it was a big 
problem, another estimated veterans make  
up 20% of rough sleepers. 

The YouGov survey also revealed a perception 
that veterans are not adequately prioritised 
for housing.5 Knowledge of housing services 
amongst serving personnel appears to be low. 
Again, the small cohort questioned stated that 
they had no knowledge of housing provision 
outside of the services. All stated that their 
first point of call in event of a housing crisis 
would be to service charities such as the 
Royal British Legion, rather than to the local 
authority. This lack of knowledge is also 
highlighted in a report by SSAFA.6 

10

The Armed Forces Covenant

The Armed Forces Covenant is a promise  
from the nation that those who serve,  
or have served in the Armed Forces, and their 
families, are treated fairly.7 In practice, this 
means its signatories commit to work together 
to ensure that members of the Armed Forces 
community (which includes veterans):

•  Face no disadvantage compared to  
other citizens in provision of public 
and commercial services.

•  Special consideration is given in some 
cases, especially for those who have  
given the most, such as the injured  
and the bereaved.

The Covenant can be signed by those who 
wish to support the Armed Forces community. 

To date over 4,000 organisations (including 
businesses and charities) have signed the 
covenant. All 407 local authorities in mainland 
Great Britain have signed the Covenant along 
with the WMCA. 

Signatories to the Covenant can achieve a 
Bronze, Silver, or Gold award in recognition of 
the level of provision aligned to the Covenant. 
Several local authorities in the West Midlands 
have achieved the Gold award. In 2012, the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer announced that 
£10 million would be made available each year, 
in perpetuity from the financial year 2015/16. 
This funding is to ensure the continued 
achievement of the government’s commitment 
to the Covenant.

Page 28



Understanding Veterans

A veteran is defined as anyone who has 
served for at least one day in Her Majesty’s 
Armed Forces (Regular or Reserve), or 
Merchant Mariners who have seen duty on 
legally defined military operations7. In 2017, 
it was estimated that there were 2.4 million 
veterans of the UK Armed Forces in Great 
Britain. This equates to an estimated 5% of 
household residents aged 16 and over.8 

Veterans were estimated to be predominantly 
white (90%), male (89%) and/or aged 65 and 
over (60%)8. It is important to consider how 
this demographic will change over the coming 
years. The current demographic profile of 
veterans is a result of the Second World War 

and National Service which ended in 1960. 
Since the 1960s, the Armed Forces have been 
smaller and consists entirely of volunteers. 
The Armed Forces reduced significantly after 
the Cold War era with Options for Change 
in the early 1990s (with an 18% reduction in 
personnel – the so called peace dividend) 
and again with the Strategic Defence Review 
in 2010, which amounted to a reduction of 
17,000 personnel and a greater reliance on 
reservists in the years ahead.

In addition to the demographic created by 
the Second World War and National Service, 
other conflicts include:

11

Korea 1950  
These veterans now  
aged 80 and above

First Gulf War 1991  
(aged 45 to late 60s)

 Iraq 2003 – 2009  
(aged 35 to mid 50s)

The Falklands Conflict 1982 
(now aged between  
55 and 70s)

The Balkans 1992 – 2002  
(aged 45 to late 60s)

Afghanistan 2001 – 2014 
(35 to late 50s)

Northern Ireland 
The longest continuous deployment 
in British Military History: 1969 – 2007 
(a large group, ranging in age from  
30 to late 80s)

It should be noted that this is not an exhaustive list of deployments.Page 29



Since a policy change in the early 1990s, 
women have been more widely recruited, 
which in time will affect the demographic. 
The number of veterans aged over 75 may 
have influenced the reduction of the overall 
estimate in numbers of veterans since 2016.  
It is likely that the number of veterans who 
died during the year was higher than the 
number of service personnel who joined the 
veteran population.8

The Northern Hub for Veterans and Military 
Families Research at Northumbria University 
estimates that there are 21,661 working 
age veterans (aged 16 to 64) in the West 
Midlands.9 The average in England is 2.03%. 

A breakdown of WMCA constituent and  
non-constituent local authorities is as follows:

12

Area Working Age Veterans Residents Aged  
16 to 64

Veterans as a % of 
residents aged 16 - 64

Birmingham 7,058 690,150 1.02

Coventry 2,744 207,856 1.32

Dudley 2,914 195,224 1.49

Sandwell 2,351 194,988 1.21

Solihull 1,950 127,897 1.52

Walsall 2,451 167,308 1.46

Wolverhampton 2,193 159,418 1.38

Area Working Age Veterans Residents Aged  
16 to 64

Veterans as a % of 
residents aged 16 - 64

Cannock Chase 1,666 63,370 2.63

North Warwickshire 888 39,664 2.24

Nuneaton and Bedworth 1,919 80,322 2.39

Redditch 1,202 55,772 2.16

Rugby 1,484 63,355 2.34

Shropshire 5,429 189,680 2.86

Stratford on Avon 1,455 73,462 1.98

Tamworth 1,238  50,323 2.46

Telford and Wrekin 3,831 108,351 3.54

Warwickshire 1,369  91,001 1.50

Constituent Authorities

Non-Constituent Authorities

Page 30



Homelessness

Homelessness takes many forms, including 
rough sleeping, staying in hostels, Bed & 
Breakfast, temporary accommodation, sofa 
surfing with friends or staying with a relative 
on an unsustainable basis due to lack of a 
permanent residence. 

Many people who become homeless do 
not show in official figures. This is known 
as hidden homelessness. This includes 
people who find a temporary solution such 
as staying with friends, living in squats or 
other such insecure accommodation. Crisis 
research indicates that about 62% of single 
homeless people are hidden and may not 
appear in official figures.10 A poll of 2,000 UK 
adults commissioned by Homeless Link in 
December 2013, found that 32% of people had 
experienced homelessness (including staying 
with friends and sofa surfing).11

The Defence Transition Service

The Defence Transition Service will provide 
comprehensive support to service leavers and 
will be at full operating capability from 31st 
January 2020. Dedicated Ministry of Defence 
staff across the country will help those few 
service leavers who may struggle as they 
transition into civilian life. More responsibility 
will also be placed on commanders to identify 
those who are likely to face the greatest 
challenges in making a successful transition.

The Joint Service Publication, Defence 
Holistic Transition Policy, outlines the criteria 
for which individuals should be referred to 
the service, and insufficient knowledge or 
capability to navigate the civilian housing 
market is one of the reasons cited for referral. 
When referring to the service, commanding 
officers will use the mnemonic “HARDFACTS” 
to give as much detail as possible:

Health 
Accommodation 
Relocation 
Drugs & Alcohol 
Finance & Benefits 
Attitude, Thinking & Behaviour 
Children & Family 
Training, Education and Employment 
Support Agencies

Service leavers (or a member of their family) 
can make a self-referral to the Defence 
Transition Service.

The service will follow up at the 12 month 
point after discharge with all service leavers 
(whether they were initially referred or not) 
to ascertain whether there are any issues that 
have arisen which they need support with. 
This support will remain in place for up to two 
years from the point of discharge. Agencies 
supporting veterans who have not previously 
been referred to the Defence Transition Service 
can make a referral via the Veterans’ Gateway.

Previously, transition support mainly focussed 
on ensuring that military personnel find jobs 
when leaving service. Personnel and their 
families will now also receive expanded 
support and guidance, including in areas such 
as personal finance, accessing healthcare, 
housing costs and paying council tax.

13

Page 31



Almost all types of homelessness have 
increased over the last decade. Since 2010 
there has been an increase in rough sleeping, 
in England of 165%. The West Midlands saw 
the biggest increase in 2017-2018 of 42%.12 
It is estimated that in England 4,677 people 
were sleeping rough in the autumn of 2018. 
We can infer from the Stoll research that 140 
of these were veterans – however, veterans 
are statistically less likely to be homeless.1 
There appears to be a difference between 
perceptions of some members of the Armed 
Forces community, veterans’ charities and 
local authorities. 

Overall, the service housing charity, Stoll, 
estimate that veterans make up 3% of those 
accessing homelessness services in England. 
That equates to over one thousand ex-service 
personnel classed as homeless and up to four 
thousand in need of urgent support to find 
accommodation every year.

All seven constituent members of the West 
Midlands Combined Authority have reported 
that, to their knowledge, low numbers 
of veterans are accessing homelessness 
services. However, this picture may illustrate a 
lack of awareness on both the part of veterans 
and local authorities. It should be noted that 
where specific pathways or provision exist 
for veterans, the numbers of veterans worked 
with are often reported as being higher.

North Warwickshire Borough Council share 
a support worker from the Veterans’ Contact 
Point (VCP). This local authority reported that 
as a result of this role, the number of veterans 
worked with (on housing related issues) went 
from 3 to 36 in a 4 month period, which 
indicates that the lack of specific provision 
may have been suppressing demand. This 
requires additional investment. Part of this 
identification of veterans has been facilitated 
by “asking the question”: asking whether 
clients have previous service in the UK Armed 
Forces is critical in identifying the veteran 
population so that the appropriate level of 
support can be mobilised. 

Those people with no recourse to public 
funds have a particularly hard time when 
faced with homelessness, many of which have 
served in the Armed Forces in other nations. 
Of particular note are the number of people 
coming into the UK from areas of conflict, 
including Iraq and Syria, as well as people 
travelling as economic migrants within the 
EU. Many of these people are from countries 
where national service has continued. This 
group almost exclusively fall outside the remit 
of UK service charities. 

14

A national charity 
working with veterans in 
the West Midlands shared 
a snapshot of a current 
caseload: of 23 veterans, 
21 were housing related, 
including facing eviction 
due to rent arrears and 
relationship breakdown. 

As another example, 
between July 2018 and 
July 2019, the Royal 
British Legion in the  
West Midlands offered 
128 clients benefits,  
debt and money advice.13 

Page 32



The Law

Local authorities have duties to consider 
and assist in preventing and relieving 
homelessness. This also applies to the  
Armed Forces community. 

The Secretary of State for Defence also  
has a duty in this case, that members of 
the regular forces in England, that may be 
homeless or threatened with homelessness 
within 56 days are referred to a local housing 
authority, with the individual’s consent.  
Where a veteran is required to leave service 
accommodation, the Ministry of Defence 
issues a certificate of cessation of entitlement 
to occupy service accommodation 6 months 
before discharge, no court order for  
possession should be required. 

The local authority will provide advice and 
guidance and consider whether the person 
has a priority need. Section 24.10 of The 
Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local 
Authorities (February 2018) lists factors 
specific to veterans that might indicate a 
vulnerability, these are:

•  The length of time the applicant spent in  
the Armed Forces (although authorities 
should not assume that vulnerability could 
not occur as a result of a short period  
of service).

•  The type of service the applicant was 
engaged in (those on active service may find 
it more difficult to cope with civilian life).

•  Whether the applicant spent any time in a 
military hospital (this could be an indicator 
of a serious health problem, such as post-
traumatic stress).

•  Whether HM Forces’ medical and welfare 
advisors have judged an individual to be 
particularly vulnerable and have issued 
a Medical History Release Form giving a 
summary of the circumstances causing  
the vulnerability.

•  The length of time since the applicant 
left the Armed Forces and whether they 
have been able to obtain and/or maintain 
accommodation during that time.

•  Whether the applicant has any existing 
support networks, particularly family  
or friends.

Due to the nature of military life, being 
stationed in multiple locations throughout 
their service, having a local connection to a 
local authority area can be complex. Section 
315 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 amended section 199 of the 1996 Act 
to enable members of the Armed Forces 
to establish a local connection through 
residence or employment in the same way  
as a civilian.

As part of their Covenant commitment, some 
local authorities choose to assume a local 
connection for any veteran applying to  
their area.

15

Page 33



Much research has been done into veterans’ 
transition and the issues that can arise. 
Housing and homelessness regularly features 
in this work. A review of research material is 
contained in Appendix A.

The headlines of this work are as follows:

•  The estimated number of veterans is given 
at between 2.4 million8 and 2.8 million.14 

•  Most service leavers transition successfully.

•  The service leavers most likely to struggle 
receive the least help during resettlement. 
It is often suggested that the longer an 
individual has served, the harder the 
transition to civilian life. Whilst this does 
present challenges, evidence suggests 
that the reverse is almost always the case. 
Service leavers who have served up to four 
years receive basic support and are the 
most likely to experience unemployment 
and other issues (such as an increased risk 
of becoming homeless). It should be noted 
that despite this relatively short service, 
individuals may have completed several 
operational tours in places such as Iraq  
and Afghanistan.15 

•  The annual cost of failing to address 
housing related issues as a result of poor 
transition is estimated (by Forces in Mind 
Trust) to cost £25 million.

•  Data collected by the Career Transition 
Partnership between July 2012 and July 
2013 showed that 12% of service leavers  
had found securing suitable accommodation 
to be one of the main issues they faced 
during transition.16 

•  The Royal British Legion guide states that 
although homelessness and rough sleeping 
is not as high among the veteran population 
as the general public might think, it has 
been one of the top three reasons for people 
to contact the Veterans’ Gateway in the  
year previous to the guide being published 
in 2019.2

Existing Research
16

‘You are statistically less 
likely to be homeless if you 
have served in Her Majesty’s 
Armed Forces.’

Page 34



Homelessness is more likely when individual 
protective factors are broken or lost – job, 
health, relationships and accommodation. For 
veterans especially at points of vulnerability  
in transition these individual protective factors 
can be at risk. Good planning for prevention 
through ensuring the right systems, 
policies, procedures and partnerships are 
in place, can mean the difference between 
homelessness being prevented and someone 
finding themselves in crisis.

Designing out homelessness is the objective 
of the West Midlands Homelessness 
Taskforce. The West Midlands Combined 
Authority has no statutory power around 
homelessness. The Taskforce is made up of 
local authorities, public, voluntary, private and 
charitable organisations, working together to 
prevent and relieve homelessness. 

The Homelessness Taskforce has used a 
Commitment to Collaborate model (C2C) to 
identify what is being done to prevent and 
relieve homelessness, as well as identifying 
gaps in provision. This approach has been 
used with a range of different bodies and 
groups in mind – private business, health, 
criminal justice, DWP and faith groups. In the 
same way the provision of services related to 
housing and homelessness can be modelled 
for veterans. 

Using the C2C, the question is, what is in place 
and what are the gaps when it comes to:

• Universal Prevention

• Targeted Prevention

• Crisis Relief

• Recovery

• Move-on Support

• Settled Home

Then when those services and gaps are 
mapped out, what are the actions that will 
best address issues as early as possible, 
ideally in that universal space?

Below is what is described as the 
Homelessness Taskforce’s ‘plan on a page’. 
An illustration of the way in which the C2C 
informs the wider strategic approach to 
designing out homelessness. 

Designing Out  
Homelessness

17

‘Homelessness is more likely 
when individual protective 
factors are broken or lost.’

Page 35



In the same way as has been done with  
DWP, private business and others, there exists 
the opportunity to map out the services and 
gaps in services relating to veterans and 
homelessness. This report and the Designing 
Out Veterans’ Homelessness event is a start  
to this work, allowing the region to build 
greater understanding and in turn implement 
policies and practices that design out 
veterans’ homelessness.

There is already some very good practice in the 
West Midlands, while also opportunities for 
greater awareness, sharing of good practice 
and collaboration. The next section highlights 
as case studies some of that good practice.

Designing out homelessness in the West Midlands

WMCA Mainstream Strategies
Affordable Accomodation, Health, Jobs and Skills, Transport,  

Community, Public Service Reform

Homelessness Task Force Steering Group

Universal 
Prevention

Regional Radar

Prevention by Design

Crisis 
Prevention 
and Relief

Tackle welfare 
related Poverty

Move-on 
Support

Task Group Young 
People

Info Advice 
Guidance

Targeted 
Prevention

Rough Sleeping 
Task Group

Affordable Supply

Recovery

Task Group 
Children & 

Families

Good  
Employment

Settled home

Task Group Older 
singles

Integrated 
Prevention

Children               Families               Young people               Older singles

18

Homelessness Taskforce’s plan on a page

Page 36



19

Case Study 1: North 
Warwickshire Borough Council. 
Integrated services to support 
the needs of veterans.

North Warwickshire Borough Council 
integrate support for veterans within their 
services. All staff are mandated to complete 
e-learning for frontline staff. The council have 
the benefit of a shared support worker and 
previously benefitted from a member of staff 
funded from the Armed Forces Covenant 
Trust. This helps them to meet diverse and 
complex needs, such as in the following case. 

A veteran presented as homeless following 
discharge from the Army. He was discharged 
on medical grounds due to a service-
attributable brain injury. He had problems 
with his speech due to an extensive stammer 
which became worse if he was nervous. He 
also had issues with memory relapses as the 
injury had affected his short-term memory. 

This client was given a one bedroom ground 
floor flat with additional support from the 
Armed Forces Outreach and Support Worker 
and the Council’s Tenancy Sustainment 
Officer to ensure that his tenancy went 
smoothly whilst in the first year. The Council 
had some issues with rent arrears and 
his Universal Credit payments during the 
first part of his tenancy, but with help and 
assistance from both officers, he was able to 
get through this and get back on track. The 
veteran gained in confidence and has started 
a new relationship and is now awaiting the 
birth of his first child. He has moved into 
another home with his new family.

Case Studies

Page 37



Case Study 2:  
Tamworth Borough Council.

Tamworth Borough Council are signatories 
to the Armed Forces Covenant and have 
gained a Gold level. The Council has sought 
to integrate the Armed Forces Covenant into 
their policies and procedures, including those 
related to housing and homelessness. 

Examples of this in action include, the 
suspension of the local connection rule when 
dealing with a housing application from a 
veteran (or their family). This allows veterans 
from the area who have lived away during 
their service not to be disadvantaged. The 
Council has held housing surgeries at the 
local barracks when the Mercian Regiment 
(which recruits from the area) returned from a 
recent tour in Afghanistan. The Council have 
an excellent relationship with SSAFA, which 
can provide a variety of assistance to veterans 
and their families. No veterans were recorded 
in their most recent rough sleeper count. 

20

Page 38



Case Study 3: West Midlands 
Housing Scheme for 
Armed Forces Veterans in 
Wolverhampton. Roland Elcock 
House (operated by Stonham, 
part of Home Group, which is a 
social enterprise and charity and 
one of the UK’s largest providers 
of supported housing services)14 

The Wolverhampton Veterans’ Housing 
Service operated for a pilot period of thirty 
months and aimed to provide vulnerable 
veterans with temporary housing and 
support in their transition to sustainable 
employment and accommodation. The project 
recognised that a large number of military 
personnel leave the British Armed Forces 
on a yearly basis and the majority of these 
leavers resettle successfully into civilian life. 
It also recognised that a number of veterans 
experience serious ongoing difficulties that 
can involve a widespread number of issues 
which, in turn, can leave them at risk of 
becoming homeless. The scheme provided 
tenancies to 31 veterans. Beneficiaries were 
mostly from Wolverhampton, the wider  
West Midlands region and neighbouring 
counties, though the service also filled a gap 
in provision for 2 veterans from further afield. 

Residents were mostly single with a high 
rate of relationship breakdown. On average, 
tenancies lasted just over 7 months but a large 
proportion extended to one year or more. 
This meant that the service assisted individual 
residents with housing needs for a significant 
length of time where needed. 

It is important to note that veterans who 
required support from the housing service had 
often left the military many years previously 
and in some cases had appeared to transition 
successfully immediately after discharge, 
indicating a delayed or ongoing need among 
a minority of veterans that external agencies 
might be better placed to address. 

Veterans on the scheme felt a limited sense 
of recognition or achievement, perceiving the 
civilian community to lack appreciation for their 
time in service. Despite ongoing efforts by the 
British Armed Forces to engage its personnel 
in long-term resettlement, there continues 
to be a proportion of the veteran population 
who experience serious ongoing difficulties 
with finding work and housing due to a range 
of different and interacting social, medical, 
emotional and practical factors. In addition, 
veterans had a sustained identity as ‘military’ 
rather than as civilians that acted as a barrier 
to moving forward and so a dependency upon 
the military for ongoing support might be 
counterproductive and prevent full integration 
and thus successful transition.

The scheme closed at the end of its pilot 
period. A report into the project stated 
that overall, the Veterans’ Housing Service 
was successful at providing good quality, 
temporary stable accommodation with a basic 
level of support. This service aimed to provide 
a comfortable standard of living, away from 
negative influences.

21

Page 39



Case Study 4: e-Learning  
for Local Authorities.

The Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire 
Armed Forces Covenant Partnership 
developed a programme of e-learning 
modules focused on particular audiences  
and needs. There are two modules applicable 
to local authorities:

•  The Armed Forces Covenant for Frontline 
Staff. This is aimed at frontline staff who 
engage with individuals and families on 
a regular basis. The training provides an 
overview of the unique challenges of service 
life and how staff can support members of 
the Armed Forces community.

•  Housing, Homelessness and the Armed 
Forces Covenant. This module looks at the 
Armed Forces Covenant and how it applies 
to housing and homelessness. It includes 
sources of support and housing agencies 
who work with veterans.

The DWP in Birmingham now make use of this 
training for their veterans’ champions. North 
Warwickshire Borough Council mandates its 
completion by all staff.

The e-learning is free to access and is 
available at the following link: https://www.
armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/localauthorities/
learning-training-resources/

The only potential drawback regarding 
the e-learning is that in order to make it 
accessible, there is no login and therefore 
no method to track how much this resource 
has been used. Organisations could use this 
e-learning as a basis to be integrated into 
their own training resources.

22

Page 40



As a result of Covenant commitments and a 
substantial range of statutory and charitable 
services, there is a significant range of 
resources available to help veterans in need, 
including those related to housing and 
homelessness. Below is a brief directory  
of some of those:

•  The Veterans’ Gateway. The Gateway is a 
single point of contact for veterans and their 
families to access help and information from 
a network of organisations. It is made up 
of a consortium of Armed Forces charities, 
including the Royal British Legion, SSAFA, 
Poppy Scotland and Combat Stress.  
www.veteransgateway.org.uk 

•  The Royal British Legion.  
www.britishlegion.org.uk

•  SSAFA – The Armed Forces Charity.  
www.ssafa.org.uk

•  Stoll – Provider of supported housing to 
veterans. www.stoll.org.uk

•  Spaces – The Single Person Accommodation 
Centre for the Ex-Services. www.riverside.
org.uk/care-and-support/veterans/spaces/

•  The Royal Naval and Royal Marines Charity. 
www.rnrmc.org.uk

•  The Royal Naval Association.  
www.royal-naval-association.co.uk

•  The Army Benevolent Fund.  
www.soldierscharity.org

•  Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund.  
www.rafbf.org

•  Royal Air Force Association.  
www.rafa.org.uk

•  Crisis. www.crisis.org.uk

•  Shelter – a charity that helps people 
struggling with bad housing or 
homelessness through advice, support and 
legal service. www.england.shelter.org

•  The Big Issue Foundation.  
www.bigissue.org.uk

•  Veterans’ Contact Point Nuneaton.  
www.veteranscontactpoint.co.uk

•  The Armed Forces & Veterans’ Breakfast 
Clubs (AFVBC). www.afvbc.net

•  Association of ex-Service Drop-in Centres 
(ASDIC). www.asdic.org.uk

Sources of Support
23

Page 41



Whilst UK veterans do not make up a large 
proportion of the homelessness population, 
there is clearly a need to be addressed, 
and more research to be done. The case 
study from North Warwickshire Borough 
Council demonstrates that when a process 
is introduced to identify veterans, more 
individuals with needs are identified. This 
then enables organisations to signpost more 
effectively and gain specialist support for 
what can be complex needs. 

Support workers have, on occasions, 
expressed frustration at not knowing the level 
of support available for veterans. This can be 
a case of not knowing the extent of support 
offered by different charities and organisations. 
The Veterans’ Gateway offers a key to 
being able to secure the most appropriate, 
geographically relevant support. The Gateway 
contains a directory of national and local 
support organisations. “Asking the question”  
to identify veterans and making good use 
of the Veterans’ Gateway can be crucial to 
making a successful early intervention. 

Research points to the need to concentrate 
upon prevention and the value of doing this. 
Charities such as the Royal British Legion 
report the bulk of their housing related issues 
present in crisis, but still where prevention 
interventions are possible, whether this be 
rent arrears or relationship breakdown. The 
introduction of the Defence Transition Service 
and the implementation of the Defence 
Holistic Transition Policy respond to this and 
offer the opportunity to properly identify 
service leavers who may well struggle with 

life after service. This approach acknowledges 
that if there are issues for a member of the 
military in service, these will not necessarily 
go away on discharge. It is vital to identify 
those that may have vulnerabilities in order 
to provide the right support at the right time. 
The twelve month follow-up for all service 
leavers (irrespective of the perceived risk of 
poor transition) will we hope prove to be an 
extremely valuable tool in identifying any 
emerging needs.

Collaboration in this field is vital. No one 
organisation, be it local authority or third 
sector, can hope to solve the complete 
array of complex issues alone. We now 
have an opportunity for homelessness and 
Armed Forces charities to come together to 
share good practice and establish a system 
of designing out veterans’ homelessness and 
creating an environment where identifying 
veterans and using established pathways 
are the norm. The Armed Forces Covenant 
provides an opportunity for organisations, 
such as local authorities to measure their 
commitment to the Armed Forces community 
using an established framework. The Armed 
Forces Covenant Trust also provides the 
opportunity for various initiatives to be funded.

Our event Designing Out Veterans’ 
Homelessness offers a great opportunity for 
learning and dialogue. Out of this we hope 
to see the strengthening of approaches that 
serve veterans and prevent homelessness. 

24

Conclusion 

Page 42



25

‘Asking the question to identify 
veterans and making good 
use of the Veterans’ Gateway 
can be crucial to making a 
successful early intervention.’

Page 43



26

In developing the work around support for 
homeless veterans in the West Midlands, 
it is recognised that there are substantial 
strategies in place relating to commitments 
to veterans; there is also a great deal of 
research work that has been undertaken. 
Often this is at a national level looking into 
the needs of veterans, including needs related 
to housing. The following section provides a 
brief synopsis of some of the most significant 
publications in this field:

The Strategy for Veterans –  
HM Government

Presented to Parliament by the Secretary of 
State for Defence in November 2018. This 
strategy has a ten year scope to 2028. The 
strategy aims to address the needs of older 
veterans as well as setting the right conditions 
for society to empower and support the 
newer generation. The Strategy has three  
key principles:

•  Veterans are first and foremost civilians and 
continue to be of benefit to wider society.

•  Veterans are encouraged and enabled to 
maximise their potential as civilians.

•  Veterans are able to access support that 
meets their needs when necessary, through 
public and voluntary sector services.

These principles are consistent with, and 
underpinned by the Armed Forces Covenant.

Key themes and their outcomes (by 2028)  
are summarised below:

•  Community and relationships – Veterans 
are able to build healthy relationships and 
integrate into their communities.

•  Employment, education and skills – 
Veterans enter appropriate employment 
and can continue to enhance their careers 
throughout their working lives.

•  Finance and debt – Veterans leave the 
Armed Forces with sufficient financial 
education, awareness and skills to be 
financially self-supporting and resilient.

•  Health and wellbeing – All Veterans enjoy 
a state of positive physical health and 
wellbeing, enabling them to contribute to 
wider aspects of society. 

•  Making a home in civilian society – Veterans 
have a secure place to live either through 
buying, renting or social housing. 

•  Veterans and the law – Veterans leave 
the Armed Forces with the resilience and 
awareness to remain law-abiding citizens.

Appendix A:  
Research Summaries

Page 44



Veterans’ Strategy:  
Background to Government 
Policy – House of Lords

This document is a library briefing prepared in 
advance of the motion “That this House takes 
note of Her Majesty’s Government’s Veterans’ 
Strategy”. The document emphasises that the 
Armed Forces Covenant (which was enshrined 
in the Armed Forces Act of 2011) outlines 
two core principles in respect of the nation’s 
moral obligation to current and former Armed 
Forces personnel. These being:

•  That they should suffer no disadvantage 
(compared to other citizens) in the provision 
of services.

•  That special consideration may apply, 
particularly in regards to those injured  
or bereaved.

The document also makes the point that while 
the overall view of the work of the Armed 
Forces was positive, the public over-estimated 
the issues faced by veterans and service 
leavers. The briefing draws on other published 
documents such as The Veterans Transition 
Review by Lord Ashcroft.

Veterans: Key Facts –  
Ministry of Defence

This document offers some key facts and 
data about veterans in the UK. It focuses on 
veterans’ employment, health and housing; 
the justice system and the Armed Forces 
Covenant. It gives the Government definition 
of a veteran and outlines the basic principles 
of the Armed Forces Covenant. The document 
states that MHCLG have introduced various 
measures to improve access to social housing 
for veterans. The Forces Help to Buy Scheme 
is briefly mentioned. There is a section on 
further support, limited to details on  
Veterans UK, The Aged Veterans Fund and  
the Veterans’ Gateway.

Joint Service Publication  
(JSP) 100 – Defence Holistic 
Transition Policy October 2019

Intended as the authoritative document 
for tri-service holistic transitional policy 
and procedures throughout Defence. Its 
publication coincides with the formation 
of the Defence Transition Service (DTS) in 
October 2019. The DTS is responsible for 
monitoring transition by working with units 
to identify service leavers at risk of poor 
transition. Their remit extends to two years 
past date of discharge. There is a chapter on 
housing and the duty to refer. The Secretary 
of State for Defence, on behalf of the Armed 
Forces, now has a legal obligation to refer.17

Snapshot Housing (a plain 
language summary of research 
and evidence relating to the UK 
Armed Forces) June 2018

The snapshot summarises issues relating 
to housing and accommodation among 
serving personnel and veterans. It also covers 
education, training and support while in service, 
during transition and after resettlement. 
The snapshot begins from the principle that 
housing choices made whilst in service, along 
with the process of transition are important in 
determining pre-discharge vulnerability and/or 
security regarding accommodation. 

A key finding is that sustainable housing has 
been identified as one of the most important 
aspects of successful transition. Serving 
personnel have access to subsidised Ministry 
of Defence accommodation and are therefore 
insulated from the market costs of housing. 
Whilst it is accepted that the majority of 
personnel make a successful transition to 
civilian life, data collected by the Career 
Transition Partnership between July 2012 and 
July 2013 showed that 12% of service leavers 
had found securing suitable accommodation 
to be one of the main issues they faced during 
transition. In 2013, FiMT estimated that the 
annual cost of failing to address housing 
related issues arising from poor transition was 
in the region of £25 million. 

27

Page 45



28

The report accepts that many in military 
service are insulated from the day to day 
realities of civilian life. Personnel are often 
unaware of the costs of securing a tenancy, 
maintaining a house or even paying bills 
(including council tax).

The New Frontline: Voices of 
Veterans in Need – Soldiers, 
Sailors and Airmen Families 
Association (SSAFA) July 2016

SSAFA recognises that the transition period 
is a pivotal time for those taking their first 
steps back into wider society. The key 
recommendation in the report is for an early 
intervention programme focused on service 
leavers who will struggle in civilian life.18 It 
suggests that commanding officers know who 
these people are, as they may have struggled 
to cope, have never been promoted, lack 
leadership skills and are unprepared for  
the transition. 

The report also recommends that service 
welfare records of veterans be shared with 
civilian agencies. Service leavers may have 
deep rooted problems and the moment 
they leave they are at risk of falling between 
the gaps. SSAFA suggests that if a support 
mechanism such as a mentoring programme, 
is not put in place during the transition period, 
it can be much harder to put lives back on 
track. Problems quickly multiply and they 
reach crisis point.19 

The report states there are 900,000 veterans 
aged 16 – 64 in the UK.20 It also reiterates that it 
is important to remember that most make the 
successful transition to civilian life, but states 
that SSAFA does much of its work around 
those who have found transition a lot harder. 

Some of the top challenges facing this group 
of veterans are:

•  Not enough savings to buy or replace 
essential items.

•  Not enough money for day to day living.

•  Depression.

•  Difficulty dealing with personal affairs  
(bills, form-filling, letters).

•  Lack of hope for the future or purpose  
in their life.

The report contains various useful case 
studies. One veteran, who joined the Army 
on his 17th birthday, served for almost 6 years 
and left in 1998 is quoted as saying “I slept in 
a local park for about 6 months. You go from 
being this soldier everyone respects to being 
the lowest of the low. You do everything in 
your power not to ask for help. Your training’s 
taught you not to”.

Page 46



Armed Forces Charities’  
Housing Provision – Directory  
of Social Change 2018

This report states that veterans’ housing 
is somewhat a misunderstood issue in the 
broader public sphere. It mentions that 
tales of individual veterans experiencing 
homelessness regularly feature in the front 
pages of newspapers, often accompanied 
by overstated figures implying that many 
veterans are homeless. The report states 
that a veteran is statistically less likely to be 
homeless compared to someone who has 
not served. It suggests that around 3% of 
the rough sleeper population are veterans. 
The report discusses that homeless veterans 
are better provided for than the general 
population, and that there is a solid base of 
housing offered to veterans. 

The Housing Cluster of the Confederation of 
Service Charities (Cobseo) is trying to tackle 
some of the structural issues that reduce the 
ability to house every veteran. This includes 
a national telephone helpline within the 
Veterans’ Gateway. The Housing Cluster 
also hopes that if the civilian sphere is more 
attuned to the needs of veterans, that local 
authorities and homeless charities are quicker 
to spot veterans and channel them through to 
the housing offered by partners within  
the cluster.

The executive summary gives details on 
the size of the service charitable housing 
sector (78 charities deliver housing support 
with small numbers of charities delivering 
specialist services). It states that Armed 
Forces charities delivered housing support to 
at least 11,600 beneficiaries in 2017 (roughly 
similar to the number accessing mental health 
services). A number of housing case studies 
are in the report, including examples from 
Stoll (the Forces Housing Charity) and Haig 
Housing. There are also case studies around 
grant making from Service charities.

Evidence Based Findings About 
the Veteran Population in 
England’s West Midlands – The 
Northern Hub for Veterans and 
Military Families Research at 
Northumbria University July 2019

Numerical data of the veteran population  
in the wider West Midlands includes:

•  Estimates of working age veterans (2011)21 
– Broken down by total, percentage of 
population and percentage of population  
by gender.

•  Military pension and compensation 
recipients (2017) – Broken down by total and 
types of pension.22

•  Financial hardship (2015/17) – Midlands 
map of hotspots of recipients of funding for 
veterans by service.

•  Mental Health – Map of distribution of the 
rates of access to mental health treatment 
(2017/18).

Evaluation of the West  
Midlands Housing Scheme 
for Armed Forces Veterans: 
Wolverhampton – University  
of Wolverhampton July 2017

This report relates to the findings of an 
evaluation of the Veterans Housing Service 
delivered by Stonham (part of Home Group) 
and part funded by the Forces in Mind  
Trust (FiMT). 

Home Group is a social enterprise charity 
and is one of the UK’s largest providers of 
supported housing services. The project 
aimed to provide a 3 year residential and 
specialised support service located at Roland 
Elcock House, Wolverhampton. Stonham 
subsequently commissioned an evaluation to 
establish the effectiveness of the service in 
meeting its aims and objectives. 

29

Page 47



30

The report states that there are 2.8 million 
veterans living in the UK. It also states that 
this population is decreasing as the larger 
number of veterans involved in earlier 
conflicts ages. The report states that a large 
number of military personnel leave the 
Armed Forces each year and the vast majority 
resettle into civilian life successfully. It also 
states that a number of veterans experience 
serious ongoing difficulties that can leave 
them at risk of homelessness.

The report draws attention to the fact that 
whilst some contributors to homelessness 
among veterans may be related to their time 
in service, many homeless veterans have not 
been in service for many years, reducing the 
likelihood that their difficulties are simply as a 
direct result of their time in military service.2

The report makes an important point 
regarding early service leavers. This group 
may account for half of personnel leaving 
the Armed Forces. Those who leave early are 
more likely to be single, hold a lower rank, 
report higher levels of childhood adversity 
and have a higher prevalence of mental and 
physical conditions which appear to remain 
after discharge. These vulnerabilities may 
place this population at higher risk of a poor 
transition (and possibly homelessness). Early 
service leavers receive a reduced level of 
resettlement support by the military.23 

Housing in England: A Best 
Practice Guide – The Royal 
British Legion 2019

This report contains a brief description of  
the support provided by the Royal British 
Legion (RBL). The RBL was created at the end 
of the First World War and remains one of 
the UK’s largest membership organisations. 
The Legion is the largest support provider in 
the Armed Forces Charity Sector. Specialist 
support can be provided to the Armed Forces 
community who are at risk of homelessness 
and housing insecurity or need help 
understanding their rights. 

The guide states that although homelessness 
and rough sleeping is not as high among the 
veteran population as the general public 
might think, it has been one of the top 3 
reasons for people to contact the Veterans’ 
Gateway in 2018.

The guide highlights the common problems 
faced by veterans in the community in relation 
to housing and homelessness. It also provides 
a toolkit of practical advice and identifies 
good practice from across England. The 
guide states that the causes of homelessness 
amongst veterans is largely the same as 
someone in the general population, with some 
specific additional circumstances, namely:

•  Poorly managed or unexpected early 
transition.

•  Unrealistic expectations of housing options.

•  Emergence of or a return to a pre-existing 
vulnerability.

The document also gives some guidance 
on identifying members of the Armed 
Forces community.24 The guide’s conclusion 
contains suggested actions including writing 
personalised housing plans that include 
details of a veteran’s status and advice on 
training dedicated Armed Forces champions.

Directory of Housing and 
Support Services for Veterans 
– Confederation of Service 
Charities (Cobseo) 20th June 2019

This includes a list of known housing and 
accommodation provision available to 
veterans. It contains details of supported, 
sheltered and general needs services. It also 
details wrap around services. The directory 
is posted on the Cobseo Housing Cluster 
website25 and updated as necessary. 

Page 48



Accommodation for Single 
Veterans: Developing Housing 
and Support Pathways – 
University of York 2018

This report examines the housing pathways 
for single veterans. The report points out 
that evidence currently available suggests 
that veterans are not significantly over-
represented amongst the homeless 
population. The suggested figures is in  
the low 1,000s. 

A 2016 survey of homelessness provision 
suggested that veterans made up 3% of  
those accessing accommodation projects  
and day centres.26

The report goes on to say that although 
not over-represented, the present housing 
pathways for veterans are complex. There 
were some key findings from several groups 
of veterans:

•  One group cited unsettled circumstances 
prior to joining up and discussed being 
homeless immediately on leaving service.

•  A larger group experience homelessness 
some considerable time after leaving 
service. Some of these veterans stated they 
had struggled from the start, often moving 
between insecure living arrangements 
(including poor quality tenancies).

•  Another group had been settled on 
leaving but became homeless following a 
trigger event. This event was frequently a 
relationship breakdown. A key issue with 
this group was how they were identified as 
veterans and whether they could be linked 
to veterans’ services.

Case studies within this report repeat a 
common issue that some local authorities 
require a local connection. Some veterans 
expressed frustration that when returning to 
the area where they lived prior to joining (and 
in some cases still had family in the area) they 
were told they had no local collection. A key 
point which emerged is that experiences vary 
greatly between different local authorities. 

This study suggests the veteran specific 
housing options (where they exist) are not 
well known to the ex-service community. 
Many veterans felt that more support could 
be available from local authorities.

The Veterans’ Transition Review – 
Lord Ashcroft February 2014

Lord Ashcroft was appointed by the Prime 
Minister as his Special Representative on 
Veterans’ Transition in September 2012. The 
review was not funded by the government and 
is considered to be independent. In summary, 
its conclusions are:

•  Transition is important for the individual, the 
Armed Forces and society as a whole.

•  There is no shortage of provision for service 
leavers. Most transition successfully.

•  Preparation by the individual is essential.

•  The service leavers most likely to struggle 
get the least help.

•  Public perception of service leavers needs 
to change. Most begin new careers and 
enjoy good health. Service leavers are no 
more likely to suffer PTSD, die by suicide, 
become homeless or go to prison than the 
rest of the population.27

31

Page 49



32

There are a number of recommendations in 
the report. Those specific to housing and 
homelessness include:

•  Incorporation of a tutored online package 
which includes information on housing. 
The Ministry of Defence could enter into 
partnership with housing charities to make 
use of their expertise.

•  Commission of a comprehensive survey of 
local authorities to establish a picture of 
allocation of social housing in each area.

•  Pay statements for service personnel should 
include the details of the unsubsidised cost 
of their accommodation and Council Tax.28 

•  Consideration given to paying service 
personnel their full salary and requiring 
accommodation charges to be paid by direct 
debit. This would help to encourage the habit 
of budgeting and financial planning.

Public Perceptions of Veterans 
and the Armed Forces – YouGov 
October 2018

This document contains extensive data from 
interviewing that took place in June 2018.  
A total of 2,849 interviews were conducted. 
The sample was weighted to reflect the  
UK population. The questionnaire also 
contained an image testing section. 
Respondents were asked to state whether 
they associated a series of images with their 
perception of a UK veteran.

There is some interesting comparative 
data such as 72% stated that they thought 
a person’s character is defined to at least a 
moderate extent by serving and 29% stated it 
was defined to a greater extent. Among those 
who have served, the perception to which 
a person’s character is affected was much 
higher, with 46% stating it is defined to a  
high degree.

The report also details positive and negative 
perceptions, mental health problems, impact 
on daily life and skills. Perceptions of treatment 
of veterans differs across groups, with the 
government attracting the most criticism.

Participants also saw a link between service in 
the Armed Forces and homelessness.  
In particular:

•  A majority of participants associate veterans 
with homelessness – for many this is due to 
media coverage, although others cited first-
hand experience.

•  There was a feeling amongst some 
participants that veterans are not 
adequately prioritised for housing. Single 
men facing lower priority than those with 
families was thought to be a particular issue.

•  Stable housing was acknowledged as being 
important in terms of providing stability  
and opportunity to adjust back into civilian 
life. Many suggested that the government 
could do more in the area of housing to 
support veterans.

Page 50



Housing Terms

Phrase Explanation

Homelessness  
Reduction Act

From 3rd April 2018, the law has changed in England to improve the help and 
support that local authorities need to provide for those that are homeless, or at risk 
of becoming so; local authorities are now likely to have a duty to help individuals 
stay in their homes or to find accommodation. They may also have a duty to house, 
depending on circumstances.

Priority Need Local authorities must provide housing for some priority groups. They are required 
to provide emergency housing if they think someone might be homeless, have a 
priority need and meet immigration and residence conditions.

Temporary 
Accommodation

If a local authority accepts a duty to house, individuals may be asked to accept 
temporary housing whilst awaiting longer term accommodation.

Duty to Refer Many public services have a duty to let local authorities know if their customers 
are homeless or at risk of becoming so. The duty to refer helps public services 
work together to prevent their customers from becoming homeless, or help those 
who are already homeless.

No Recourse to  
Public Funds

A status that applies to non-UK nationals who have no entitlement to welfare 
benefits, social housing or UK Government asylum support and/or are subject to 
UK Government immigration control.

Military Terms

Phrase Explanation

Armed Forces Covenant The Armed Forces Covenant is a promise from the nation that those who serve or 
have served in the Armed Forces, and their families, are treated fairly.

Discharge Leaving the services. Discharge can be for a variety of reasons such as medical, 
discipline, administrative or completion of service.

Early Service Leaver Someone who leaves the Armed Forces within their first four years of service.  
Or their leaving is compulsory.

Veteran Someone who has at least one day’s paid service in the UK Armed Forces.

Resettlement The process undertaken prior to leaving the Armed Forces. Time allocated to 
resettlement activities is on a sliding scale according to length of service.

Transition The process of leaving the Armed Forces and settling into and adjusting to  
civilian life.

Appendix B:  
Jargon Buster

33

Page 51



The West Midlands Combined Authority, on 
behalf of the Homelessness Taskforce would 
like to thank all the local authorities, service 
charities, and voluntary sector organisations 
who supported the creation of this report, 
including all those who took part in meetings, 
forums, phone interviews, and provided cases 
studies. Thanks also goes to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
for supporting our work across the region to 
prevent and relieve veterans’ homelessness.

Acknowledgements
34

Page 52



Footnotes

1 Armed Forces Charities’ Housing Provision. Directory 
of Social Change. 2018.

2 Supporting The Armed Forces Community with 
Housing in England: A Best Practice Guide. The Royal 
British Legion. 2019.

3 The Strategy for our Veterans (Valued, Contributing, 
Supported). MoD. November 2018.

4 Evening Standard, 23rd March 2007 “Shameful Army 
Accommodation for 40% of British troops and their 
families” and BBC News, 23rd March 2007 “Poor Forces 
Housing for Decades.”

5 Public Perceptions of Veterans and the Armed Forces. 
YouGov. October 2018.

6 The New Frontline: Voices of Veterans in Need. 
SSAFA. July 2016.

7 Veterans: Key Facts. MoD. 2017.

8 Annual Population Survey: UK Armed Forces Veterans 
residing in Great Britain, 2017. MoD

9 Evidence based findings about the veteran population 
in England’s West Midlands. The Northern Hub for 
Veterans and Military Families Research. July 2019.

10 The Hidden Truth About Homelessness. Crisis. 2011.

11 A Poll of UK Adults. Homeless Link. 2013.

12 Rough Sleeping in England. Annual Statistical 
Release Evaluating the Extent of Rough Sleeping 2010-
2018. MHCLG. January 2019.

13 The Royal British Legion, West Midlands Impact 
Data. July 2019.

14 Evaluation of the West Midlands Housing Scheme 
for Armed Forces Veterans: Wolverhampton. University 
of Wolverhampton. July 2017.

15 The Veterans’ Transition Review. Lord Ashcroft. 
February 2014.

16 Snapshot Housing (a plain language summary 
of research and evidence relating to the UK Armed 
Forces). June 2018.

17 Although responsibility lies with the Secretary of 
State, in practice this is carried out at unit level, on 
behalf of Commanding Officers.

18 The newly established Defence Transition Service 
may help to support this process.

19 Project Nova (a programme to assist veterans in the 
Criminal Justice System) reached a similar conclusion.

20 According to the 2014 MOD Survey of the Veteran 
Population.

21 Adapted from Census 2011.

22 Adapted from UK Location of Armed Forces Pension 
and Compensation Recipients.

23 Resettlement provision is on a sliding scale 
according to length of service.

24 Veteran ID cards are being rolled out from 2019 
although these are not compulsory.

25 www.cobseo.org.uk

26 Survey by Homeless Link 2016.

27 No source is given, although anecdotal evidence 
suggests this statement is broadly accepted.

28 Service Personnel in the UK currently pay a Charge 
in Lieu of Council Tax (CILOCT) which is deducted at 
source. Financial arrangements with the local authority 
are not necessary.

35

Page 53



Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Section 106 Planning Obligations - Briefing Note
	Implementation of s106 Funded schemes

	7 Veterans Support

